
Municipal Planning Commission – Meeting Agenda January 23, 2024 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
Municipal Planning Commission Meeting 

Tuesday January 23, 2024 
6:00pm 

 
 

1. Date/Place: January 23, 2024, 6:00pm at the Seniors Drop-in Centre 4918 50th 
Avenue, Bentley AB 
 

2. Members Attendance: 
 

Mayor Rathjen 
Deputy Mayor Valiquette 
Councillor Hansen 
Councillor Grimsdale 
Councillor Eastman 
 
CAO/Development Officer and Recording Secretary – Marc Fortais 

 
3. Amendments and Acceptance of Agenda 

 
4. Previous Minutes: 

 
a) Municipal Planning Commission Minutes September 26, 2023 
 

5. New Business 
 

a) Application for consideration: Sydney King & Owner Derek Forest 5018 49th 
Ave, permit 01-24 -  Discretionary Use Commercial District to operate a 
Farm, Feed & Equine Therapy business. 

 
The applicant is requesting the following: 
 

• Approval of discretionary use in the C Commercial District to 
operate a retail farm feed and an equine therapy business. There are 
no renovations proposed to be undertaken and the request is if the 
Municipal Planning Commission will authorize this business as a 
discretionary use in the district.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Municipal Planning Commission – Meeting Minutes September 26, 2023 1 
  _____ 
  Initial 

 
 
 

Minutes of the Municipal Planning Commission Meeting of the Town of Bentley  
Tuesday September 26, 2023 

 
Date & Place Minutes of the Municipal Planning Commission Meeting of the 

Town of Bentley held Tuesday September 26, 2023, at 6:15 pm, in 
the Seniors Drop-In Centre 4918 50th Ave, Bentley AB 

 
 
In Attendance  
 Mayor Rathjen (Chair) 

Deputy Mayor Eastman  
 Councillor Hansen 
 Councillor Grimsdale (Online) 
 Councillor Valiquette 
 CAO/Development Officer and Recording Secretary – Marc Fortais 
   
 
 
Call To Order Mayor Rathjen Called the meeting to order at 6:15 pm 
 
 
Indigenous Acknowledgement 

 
“We acknowledge that we are meeting on Treaty 6 Territory and 
Home of Metis Nation Region 3, on land that is part of a historic 
agreement involving mutuality and respect. We recognize all the 
many First Nations, Metis, Inuit, and non-First Nations whose 
footsteps have marked these lands.” 

 
 
Agenda  

Motion MPC 25/2023 Moved by Councillor Grimsdale, “THAT 
the Agenda of the September 26, 2023, Municipal Planning 
Commission Meeting be accepted.” 

         Carried 
 
 
 



Municipal Planning Commission – Meeting Minutes September 26, 2023 2 
  _____ 
  Initial 

Previous Minutes  
Motion MPC 26/2023 Moved by Councilor Valiquette “THAT 
the minutes of the August 31, 2023, Municipal Planning 
Commission Meeting of the Town of Bentley be confirmed.” 

 
         Carried 
 
 
New Business:  

a) Application for consideration: JDP Ventures – 4802 52nd 
Street Development Permit 15-23 – Addition of 16 40-foot 
shipping containers in the Heavy Industrial District to 
support the expansion of the storage business.  

 
The application was discussed at length and the pros and cons 
were debated. The MPC felt that the request to place 16 shipping 
containers was far too great of a variance to be approved The Land 
Use bylaw clearly states that only 1 shipping container per hectare 
is permitted. Although MPC felt that it was great that the company 
was considering an expansion of the facility, they did not want the 
entrance to the community to be full of shipping containers that may 
deteriorate over time. MPC also indicated that they would support a 
development application for expansion that included steel buildings 
in alignment with the existing storage facility.  

 
Motion MPC 27/2023 Moved by Councillor Grimsdale, “THAT 
the Municipal Planning Commission does not approve 
Development Permit Application 15-23 from JDP Ventures for the 
placement of 16 new shipping containers on the property to be 
used for the purposes of on-site storage in support of a business 
expansion of Bentley Storage.” 
 
        Carried 
 
 

Adjournment 
 

Motion MPC 28/2023 Moved by Councilor Eastman “THAT the 
municipal planning commission meeting of September 26, 2023, be 
adjourned at 6:30pm. 
 
        Carried 
  

 
 
_________________________    _________________________ 
Mayor Rathjen       CAO Marc Fortais 



 
 

1 
January 23, 2023 – MPC Meeting – Development Permit 01-24 – Sydney King and Owner Derek Forest 

 

 
 

REPORT TO MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
Date January 23, 2024 
Item Sydney King – Consideration for Discretionary Use – Farm & Feed Store and 

Equine Therapy, located at 5018 49th Ave 
Prepared by Marc Fortais, CAO 

 
 
 
SUMMARY  

THAT the Municipal Planning Commission consider the approval of the Development Permit 
Application 01-24 (Attachment #1) from Sydney Mae King and approval from the current owner 
Derek Forest. The application is being considered as a discretionary use similar to a veterinary clinic 
in the Commercial District. 
 
This Development Permit application is being considered by the Municipal Planning Commission 
(MPC) because the current Land Use Bylaw does not specifically define Equine therapy under 
permitted or discretionary use. Considering the nature and operation of the business operation, which 
is similar to a Veterinary Clinic use, the proposed Equine Therapy might be considered a 
Discretionary use which requires MPC approval for a Development Permit. The Development Officer 
would recommend approval of a Development Permit for a Limited Term of two years. This permit will 
be renewed if, in the opinion of the Development Officer, this business has no negative impact on the 
community and public interest.  
 
BACKGROUND 

The Town has received an application for a Development Permit to use an existing building located at 
5018 49th Ave as a Farm & Feed Store and Equine Therapy business. The subject site is located in 
Central Commercial District (C). The proposed business intends to offer a feed and farm supply store 
that will supply feed and farm supply essentials, such as basic hardware, workwear, and a selection of 
equestrian track and clothing on consignment. It is also the hope of the applicant to be approved to 
offer her certified services of equine massage therapy and vertebral realignment. Equine therapy will 
take place inside the building and the animals will be secure while undergoing treatment. Equine 
therapy treatments are not anticipated to take place every day due to the length of time required to 
complete treatments and the strength required to do so. On any given day there would only be a 
maximum of three treatments per day, when they do occur. Loading and unloading from the trailer to 
the building will be direct, with no grazing or stopping. Any horses waiting for an appointment must 
wait secured in their trailer until ready to be served. Animal behavior will be assessed prior to 
approving treatment to ensure that only well-behaved animals will be eligible for the treatment. Odor 
and waste will be removed and treated immediately to not cause any disturbance or inconvenience to 
the neighboring businesses.  



 
 

2 
January 23, 2023 – MPC Meeting – Development Permit 01-24 – Sydney King and Owner Derek Forest 

A letter of support has also been provided by the building owners of 5018 49th Ave and they have 
signed the development permit application. In addition, Bentley Family Dentistry has also provided a 
letter of support for the application with no major concerns assuming waste is effectively managed. 
 
PLANNING and DEVELOPMENT ANALYSIS 

According to the Town’s Land Use Bylaw operating the proposed Farm and Feed business would be 
considered as a Retail Sales use which is permitted in the Commercial District. However, Equine 
Therapy is a unique use which is not listed under the Permitted or Discretionary uses in the district.   
Our planning consultant PCPS provided guidance to indicate that the use would be similar in nature to 
a veterinary clinic. Under the current Land Use Bylaw, a Veterinary Clinic is a Discretionary use within 
the Commercial District.  
In addition, a review was undertaken of the Animal Control Bylaw #152/2011 (Attachment #2) under 
Part 4 Other Animals and Fowl which states: 
 

1.) No person shall keep or maintain any livestock, exotic birds, poultry, or exotic animals on a 
parcel of land except for the following: 
 
a. Agricultural animals may be kept within a residential parcel of size larger than 1 acre 

provided that no complaints are received, or damage proven to another’s property as a 
consequence of said animals being kept within the said residential parcel. 

b. Agricultural animals may be kept within the boundaries of a land use district classified as 
Urban Reserve in the Town of Bentley Land Use Bylaw, if such keeping is listed as 
allowable in the said Land Use Bylaw for that specific district, provided that no complaints 
are received, or damage proven to another’s property as a consequence of said animal(s) 
being kept within the boundaries of the said Urban Reserve District. 

c. Fowl may be kept within the boundaries of a land use district classified as Urban Reserve 
in the Town of Bentley Land Use Bylaw, if such keeping is listed as allowable in the said 
Land Use Bylaw for that specific district, provided that no complaints are received, or 
damage proven to another’s property as a consequence of said fowl being kept within the 
boundaries of the said Urban Reserve District. 

d. Notwithstanding the above, animals in the Town for parades, gymkhanas, exhibitions and 
rodeos duly authorized or permitted by the Town are not subject to the provisions of this 
By-law, provided that in all instances, such animals are under the direct care and 
supervision of competent persons and the area the animals are held is left clean and feces 
removed. 

 
There is no specific mention in the animal control bylaw regarding the operations of equine therapy, 
however, the horses that will receive therapy are not permanently residing on the property, they are 
there for a limited time period, and they will be controlled by the business owner. Therefore, in 
alignment with item d.) if the Municipal Planning Commission chooses to approve the discretionary 
use in this district, it should be conditional that the animals remain under direct control of the business 
owner during the loading and unloading procedure, and that the feces are managed and cleaned 
immediately.  
 
It is also important to note that as the Development Officer for the town, we also asked Ms. King: 
 

- How would she deal with the smell and removal of feces? 
- If she had sufficient space for unloading and loading animals. 



 
 

3 
January 23, 2023 – MPC Meeting – Development Permit 01-24 – Sydney King and Owner Derek Forest 

- How will she manage to load and unload animals safely, minimizing the risk of them getting 
loose or damaging other property within the commercial district? 

- To obtain a letter of support from the neighboring business Bentley Dental 
 
It is the Development Officer’s understanding that there are no contemplated renovations or major 
modifications required to the space and there is sufficient room for loading and unloading based on 
the long access from the alley. The location is at the edge of the commercial district and access can 
be from Railway Ave, minimizing travel through the community.  
 
The Development Officer is recommending that the Municipal Planning Commission consider 
approval of Development Permit 01-24 as this is a unique business and will offer something currently 
not offered within the community of Bentley. I believe that as long as there are safe loading and 
unloading procedures, there is effective waste management and there are proper assessments of 
animal behavior prior to allowing treatment, this will be a great business for the community.  
 
FINANCIAL AND BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
  
RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the Municipal Planning Commission Approves the Development Permit Application 01-24 
Sydney Mae King and approved by the current owner Derek Forest for the operation of a farm and 
feed store with equine therapy as a discretionary use in the commercial district under the following 
conditions: 
 
This Development Permit is valid for Two years. It will be renewed if, in the opinion of the 
Development Officer, the business has no negative impacts on the community and public interest; 
AND 
 
THAT the business owner effectively manages waste (feces and urine) produced by any animal 
receiving equine therapy in a timely manner, so as to not cause a disturbance to neighboring 
properties;  
AND 
 
THAT loading and unloading into the building will be managed by the business owner safely and 
securely so as to not cause any damage or disturbance to neighbor properties; AND 
 
THAT all other setback requirements, and any other requirements as outlined by the Land Use Bylaw 
and/or through the Alberta Building Code and National Safety Code for the handling of large animals 
(horses), must be met. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1) Development Permit Application 01-24 – 5018 49th Ave – Sydney King & Owner Derek 
Forest – Farm, Feed & Equine Therapy – Discretionary Use 
 

2) Bylaw 152-2011 – Animal Control Bylaw     












































	Agenda Municipal Planning Commisison Meeting January 23, 2024.pdf
	MPC Meeting January 23, 2024 - Meeting Minutes - MPC Meeting September 26, 2023
	MPC - January 23 2024 -New Business - Development Permit 01-24 - Farm Feed  Equine Therapy Final
	Attachment #1 - Development Permit Application 01-2024 - Farm, Feed & Equine Therapy - Discretionary Use
	Attachment #2 - Bylaw-152-2011-Animal-Control-Bylaw

